# **BYLAWS**

### of

# NORTH CAROLINA BAR FOUNDATION

#### ARTICLE 1 NAME AND PURPOSES

Article 1.1 <u>Name</u>. The name of this nonprofit corporation is NORTH CAROLINA BAR FOUNDATION ("Foundation").

Article 1.2 <u>Purposes</u>. The purposes of the Foundation as stated in its Articles of Incorporation are to carry out certain educational, literary, scientific, and charitable purposes, or any of them, both directly and by the application of assets to the use of the North Carolina Bar Association ("Association"), for educational, literary, scientific, and charitable purposes, or to any other legal entity, trust, fund, or foundation whose purposes and operations are educational, literary, scientific, or charitable. The purposes of the Foundation are as follows:

(a) Foster and maintain the honor and integrity of the legal profession;

(b) Engender respect for, and understanding of, the law;

(c) Study, improve, and facilitate the administration of, and access to, justice;

(d) Encourage and support public service and the delivery of pro bono legal services to the indigent and others in need;

(e) Establish and maintain an endowment to support the purposes of the Foundation; and

(f) Undertake and perform any and all activities, responsibilities, and obligations applicable to the Foundation set forth in the North Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act and the Foundation's governing documents.

However, all policies and activities of the Foundation shall be consistent with all applicable tax exemption requirements, including that no part of the net earnings of the

Foundation shall inure to the benefit of any specific or private individual, nor shall any substantial part of the Foundation's activities consist of carrying on propaganda or otherwise attempting to influence legislation. Further, all policies and activities of the Foundation shall be consistent with all applicable antitrust laws, trade regulations, and other legal requirements.

#### ARTICLE 2 NO MEMBERSHIP

The Foundation shall not have members.

### ARTICLE 3 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Article 3.1 <u>Powers</u>. The affairs of the Foundation shall be managed by its Board of Directors ("Board"), which is the governing body of the Foundation.

Article 3.2 <u>Composition</u>. The Board shall consist of six (6) at-large directors, who shall be elected by the Board as hereinafter provided, and the following ex-officio, voting members:

- a. The voting members of the Executive Committee of the Association;
- b. The voting members of the Audit & Finance Committee of the Association; and,
- c. The Chairs of the Development, Endowment and Program Oversight Committees of the Foundation ("Foundation Committee Chairs").

In order to provide continuity in the Board, the terms of the six (6) at-large directors shall be staggered so that two (2) members are elected each year. Each at-large director may serve no more than two (2) consecutive three (3) year terms. Also to provide continuity, the Foundation Committee Chairs shall serve staggered three (3) year terms, so that in any given year, one (1) Foundation Committee Chair is being appointed by the President. Foundation Committee Chairs may serve no more than two (2) consecutive three (3) year terms. At-large directors and Foundation Committee Chairs shall be members of the Association, but, shall not, serve concurrently on the Association Board of Governors. Any person serving on the Board who ceases to be a member of the Association shall also cease to be a member of the Board. Ex-officio positions shall change automatically as holders of those offices change.

Article 3.3 <u>Elections; Nominations; Non-Attendance</u>. At each Annual Meeting (as defined in <u>Article 3.5</u>), two members of the Association in good standing shall be elected to serve three-year terms as members of the Board. The election of these members shall be by

voice vote of the members of the Board other than at-large members whose terms are expiring. Upon motion, duly seconded and carried, such members may be elected by written ballot. Board members shall serve until death, resignation, removal, or until their successors are duly elected and installed. All nominations for vacancies in the Board shall be for the unexpired term of such office. Nominations for election to membership on the Board are to be made as provided in <u>Article 5.5</u>, except that election to fill a vacancy does not require a nomination from the Nominations Committee and may occur at any Board meeting where a quorum is present. If any elected member shall be absent for any three Regular Meetings (as defined in <u>Article 3.4</u>) (not including the organizational meeting immediately following the adjournment of the Annual Meeting (as defined in <u>Article 3.4</u>) upon due notice and hearing, determine the reasonableness of such absences and, by at least a two-thirds vote of the Board members present, may declare a vacancy in such office.

Article 3.4 <u>Regular Meetings</u>. Regular meetings of the Board shall be held in conjunction with the regular meetings of the Board of Governors of the Association ("Regular Meeting").

Article 3.5 <u>Annual Meeting</u>. The annual meeting of the Foundation shall be held on the same date as the annual meeting of the Association ("Annual Meeting").

Article 3.6 <u>Special Meetings</u>. Special meetings of the Board shall be held at any time at the call of the President, President-Elect, or any five members of the Board ("Special Meeting").

Article 3.7 <u>Notice of Meetings</u>. All other meetings of the Board, except the Annual Meeting, shall be upon not less than ten days' prior written notice.

Article 3.8 <u>Place of Meetings</u>. The Annual Meeting shall be held at the same place as the annual meeting of the Association. All other meetings shall be held at such places as the President or President-Elect may designate.

Article 3.9 <u>Quorum</u>. At any Regular Meeting, Annual Meeting, or Special Meeting of the Board, a majority of the members of the Board, including at least three members of the Executive Committee, shall constitute a quorum. Unless otherwise specified herein, action at a meeting of the Board shall be by a majority of the quorum. All members of the Board, including ex-officio members, shall have the right to vote; provided, however, that the Executive Director shall not be a voting member of the Board.

Article 3.10 <u>Presumption of Assent</u>. A member of the Board who is present at a meeting of the Board at which action on any matter is taken shall be presumed to have assented to the action taken unless that member's contrary vote is recorded or that member's

dissent is otherwise entered in the minutes of the meeting, or unless that member shall file a written dissent to such action with the person acting as the chair of the meeting before the adjournment thereof. The right to file a written dissent shall not apply to a member who voted in favor of such action.

Article 3.11 <u>Manner of Acting</u>. Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws or required by applicable law, the affirmative vote of a majority of the members participating in a meeting of the Board shall be the act of the Board if a quorum is present when the vote is taken. Any meeting of the Board where the members are not gathered at the same location may be held by teleconference or any other media through which the members participating in the meeting may hear and directly communicate with each other.

Article 3.12 <u>Action Without Meeting</u>. Action required or permitted to be taken by the Board at a meeting may be taken without a meeting if (1) notice of such action is provided in advance to all Board members, and (2) one or more written consents describing the action taken is signed by all of the members of the Board, before or after the action so taken, and filed with the corporate records or the minutes of the proceedings of the Board. Action so taken is effective when the last required member of the Board signs such consent, unless the consent specifies a different effective date. Such consent has the effect of a meeting vote and may be described as such in any document. The consent of a Board member to action taken without meeting may be in electronic form and delivered by electronic means. Signatures of the requisite Board members need not appear on one original written consent to action and may appear on duplicate originals.

### ARTICLE 4 OFFICERS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Article 4.1 <u>Designation</u>. The officers of the Foundation shall be the President, the President-Elect, the Secretary, and the Treasurer. The offices of President-Elect and Treasurer shall be combined.

Article 4.2 <u>Qualification</u>. Each officer of the Foundation must be a member of the Board, except the Secretary only must be a member of the Association and is not required to be a member of the Board. The President must be the President of the Association. The President-Elect must be the President-Elect of the Association.

Article 4.3 <u>Election and Term of Office</u>. The officers of the Foundation shall be elected by the Board at the Annual Meeting and shall be elected for a one-year term. Each officer shall hold office until death, resignation, removal, or until a successor is elected and assumes office. Article 4.4 <u>Vacancies</u>. The Board may fill any vacancy in any office for which these Bylaws do not provide for succession. If the Bylaws provide for succession, but no person is available to succeed to the office, the Board may fill the vacancy for the remainder of the unexpired term.

Article 4.5 <u>Duties of Officers</u>. The duties of the officers of the Foundation are as follows:

(a) <u>Duties of the President</u>. The President, who shall serve without compensation, shall perform all duties incident to the office of president of a nonprofit corporation as set forth in the North Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act or other applicable law. The President, or in the President's absence, the President-Elect, shall preside at meetings of the Executive Committee and of the Board. The President shall serve as the Chair of the Board, and shall have such power, duties, and responsibilities as may be assigned by these Bylaws, the Board, or the Executive Committee.

(b) <u>Duties of the President-Elect</u>. The President-Elect, who shall serve without compensation, shall perform the duties and shall have the power and responsibilities of the President in the event of the President's death, resignation, absence, removal, or disability. The President-Elect shall have such power, duties, and responsibilities as may be assigned by these Bylaws, the Board, the Executive Committee, or the President.

(i) The President-Elect shall succeed to the office of the President upon the death, the resignation, or removal of the President and shall serve for the President's unexpired term.

(ii) Should the office of President-Elect become vacant, the Board shall select a successor President-Elect to serve for the unexpired term of the President-Elect.

(c) <u>Duties of the Secretary</u>. The Executive Director shall serve concurrently as Secretary and shall keep full and accurate minutes of the proceedings of all meetings of the Board, the Executive Committee, and of such other matters as the Board, the Executive Committee, or the President shall direct. The Executive Director shall be the keeper of the seal of the Foundation and shall carefully preserve the records and archives of the Foundation and transmit them to the successor in office. The Executive Director shall perform all duties incident to the office of the Secretary and such other duties as may be assigned by the Board, the Executive Committee, or the President.

(d) <u>Duties of the Treasurer</u>. The President-Elect shall serve concurrently as Treasurer, and under the direction of the Board or the President, shall oversee the collection and disbursement, deposit or investment of funds of the Foundation, and shall cause to be kept regular and accurate accounts for all financial matters of the Foundation in books

belonging to the Foundation, which books shall be open to inspection by any member of the Board during regular business hours upon at least seven days' prior written notice to the Executive Director. The President-Elect shall perform all duties incident to the office of Treasurer and such other duties as may be assigned by the Board, the Executive Committee, or the President.

Article 4.6 <u>Removal</u>. Any officer of the Foundation may be removed by a two-thirds<sup>2</sup> vote of the Board at any Regular Meeting or Special Meeting. In the case of a compensated officer, such removal shall be without prejudice to the written employment contract rights, if any, of the person removed.

Article 4.7 Executive Director.

(a) <u>Position of Executive Director</u>. The Executive Director shall be the active managing executive of the Foundation, subject to the oversight of the Board in conducting the affairs of the Foundation. The Executive Director shall be appointed for a one-year term by the Board at the Annual Meeting.

(b) <u>Duties of the Executive Director</u>. The Executive Director shall have the following powers, duties, and responsibilities:

(i) The Executive Director shall serve concurrently as Secretary and shall perform the duties as stated in <u>Article 4.5(c)</u>.

(ii) The Executive Director shall, with the assistance and concurrence of the President when the latter deems expedient, conduct the correspondence of the Foundation.

(iii) The Executive Director shall keep at all times a complete and accurate role of the membership of the Board, with addresses, and shall notify new officers of their election and Chairs and members of committees of their appointment.

(iv) The Executive Director shall issue notices of all meetings of the Board, the Executive Committee, and other committees when requested.

(v) The Executive Director shall prepare and make any such reports to the Board, the Executive Committee, or the President as such shall be directed by action of the Board or the Executive Committee or in writing by the President.

(vi) The Executive Director shall exercise exclusive jurisdiction over the hiring, assignment, training, promotion, and discharge of all employees of the Foundation (other than the Executive Director); provided, however, that the hiring of an additional staff member shall take place only when the particular position has been authorized by the Board.

(vii) The Executive Director may execute or authorize the execution of contracts on behalf of the Foundation at the direction of, or consistent with actions taken by, the Board after consultation with the President.

(vii) The Executive Director shall perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Board, the Executive Committee, or the President.

### ARTICLE 5

#### COMMITTEES

Article 5.1 <u>Standing Committees</u>. The Foundation shall have seven standing committees (1) the Executive Committee, (2) the Governance Committee, (3) the Audit & Finance Committee, (4) the Nominations Committee, (5) the Endowment Committee, (6) Development Committee, and (7) the Program Oversight Committee.

Article 5.2 Executive Committee.

(a) <u>Composition</u>. The Executive Committee shall consist of the members of the Association Executive Committee, and the President shall be the Chair of the Executive Committee.

(b) <u>Power and Duties</u>. The Executive Committee shall have all the power and duties of the Board when the Board is not in session; provided, that notice of actions taken by the Executive Committee shall be provided promptly to the full Board, and, provided further, that the Executive Committee shall not have authority as to the following matters:

(i) The dissolution, merger, or consolidation of the Foundation;

(ii) The amendment of the Articles of Incorporation of the Foundation;

(iii) The sale, lease, or exchange of all or substantially all of the property of the Foundation;

(iv) The designation of any other standing committee or the filling of vacancies on the Board;

(v)  $% \left( v \right) = 0$  The amendment or repeal of these Bylaws or the restatement or adoption of new Bylaws of the Foundation;

(vi) The amendment or repeal of any resolution of the Board that by its terms shall not be so amendable or repealable; and

(vii) Any other matter that the Board may by resolution specifically reserve to itself.

(c) <u>Quorum</u>. A majority of the Executive Committee shall constitute a quorum at any meeting. Unless otherwise specified, action at a meeting of the Executive Committee shall be by majority of the quorum.

(d) <u>Meetings</u>. The Executive Committee shall meet at the call of the President, President-Elect, or any three of its members. Any meeting of the Executive Committee where the members are not gathered at the same location may be held by teleconference or any other media through which the members participating in the meeting may hear and directly communicate with each other.

## Article 5.3 Governance Committee.

(a) <u>Composition</u>. The Governance Committee shall consist of the President-Elect, who shall be Chair of the committee, one member of the Executive Committee, one member of the Audit & Finance Committee, and the three Foundation Committee Chairs. The member of the Executive Committee and the member of the Audit & Finance Committee appointed to the Nominations Committee by the President-Elect each year shall serve a one-year term, but the three Foundation Committee Chairs shall continue to serve on the Nominations Committee for as long as those individuals serve as a Foundation Committee Chair.

(b) <u>Power and Duties</u>. It shall be the duty of the Governance Committee to (i) review the Foundation's governance documents (including, without limitation, its Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws and board-approved policies) and to recommend appropriate amendments; (ii) receive and submit, with its recommendations, amendments proposed by any committee or member of the Board; (iii) assist in presenting proposed amendments to the Board; and (iv) take such other action as the President shall direct.

(c) <u>Quorum</u>. A majority of the Governance Committee shall constitute a quorum at any meeting. Action at a meeting of the Governance Committee shall be by a majority vote of the quorum.

(d) <u>Meetings</u>. The Governance Committee shall meet at such times as the Chair believes appropriate to fulfill its duties. Any meeting of the Governance Committee where the members are not gathered at the same location may be held by teleconference or any other media through which the members participating in the meeting may hear and directly communicate with each other.

### Article 5.4 Audit & Finance Committee.

(a) <u>Composition</u>. The Audit & Finance Committee shall consist of the members of the Audit & Finance Committee of the Association and the President-Elect shall serve as Chair of the committee.

(b) <u>Power and Duties</u>. The duties of the Audit & Finance Committee are:

(i) To screen independent certified public accounting firms and to recommend such a firm to the Board for retention as the Foundation's independent auditors;

(ii) To determine to its satisfaction that such independent auditors are properly discharging their duties, that their financial reporting to the Board is done in a competent and adequate manner, and that their relationship with and advice to the officers and accounting staff of the Foundation is cooperative and satisfactory;

(iii) To determine to its satisfaction that the internal accounting procedures of the Foundation are adequate and that the Foundation's accounting staff is performing its duties in a satisfactory manner;

(iv) To discuss and review with such independent auditors the scope and results of each of their annual examinations, and particularly any recommendations of such auditors as a result thereof;

(v) When requested by such independent auditors, the Executive Director, or when otherwise indicated, to meet with such independent auditors or the Foundation's staff as to any matter involving auditing procedure and reporting;

(vi) At least annually, following receipt of the independent auditors' annual examination, to meet and report to the Board with reference to the discharge of the Audit & Finance Committee's duties and any recommendations it may have; and

(vii) Request that the Executive Director prepare prior to each fiscal year of the Foundation an operating budget reflecting the Foundation's estimated receipts and probable expenses for the fiscal year, which shall be reviewed by the Audit & Finance Committee and then presented to the Board for its consideration and adoption.

(c) <u>Quorum</u>. A majority of the Audit & Finance Committee shall constitute a quorum at any meeting. Action at a meeting of the Audit & Finance Committee shall be by a majority of the quorum.

(d) <u>Meetings</u>. The Audit & Finance Committee shall meet at such times as the Chair believes appropriate to fulfill its duties. Any meeting of the Audit & Finance Committee where the members are not gathered at the same location may be held by teleconference or any other media through which the members participating in the meeting may hear and directly communicate with each other.

### Article 5.5 Nominations Committee.

(a) <u>Composition</u>. The Nominations Committee shall consist of the President-Elect, who shall be Chair of the Committee, one member of the Executive Committee, one member of the Audit & Finance Committee, and the three Foundation Committee Chairs. The member of the Executive Committee and the member of the Audit & Finance Committee appointed to the Nominations Committee by the President-Elect each year shall serve a one-year term, but the three Foundation Committee Chairs shall continue to serve on the Nominations Committee for as long as those individuals serve as a Foundation Committee Chair.

(b) <u>Power and Duties</u>. The Nominations Committee shall have the responsibility to nominate at the Annual Meeting of the Board a qualified Association member for each atlarge position on the Board to be elected or appointed at such Annual Meeting.

(c) <u>Quorum</u>. A majority of the Nominations Committee shall constitute a quorum at any meeting. Action at a meeting of the Nominations Committee shall be by a majority of the quorum.

(d) <u>Meetings</u>. Any meeting of the Nominations Committee where the members are not gathered at the same location may be held by teleconference or any other media through which the members participating in the meeting may hear and directly communicate with each other.

(e) <u>Prior Determination of Willingness to Serve</u>. Prior to placing in nomination the name of any nominee, the Nominations Committee shall contact the nominee and determine the nominee's willingness to serve in the office or position for which nomination is being considered.

## Article 5.6 Endowment Committee.

(a) <u>Composition</u>. The Endowment Committee shall consist of a Chair appointed by the President-Elect, who shall serve a three (3) year term, and no more than nine (9) members appointed by the President-Elect (at least three (3) of whom serve or have previously served as a member of the Board) to serve a one (1) year term.

(b) <u>Power and Duties</u>. The Endowment Committee shall have the responsibility to provide oversight to the administration of the Endowment, including the grant making process, and to make recommendations to the Board regarding the Endowment, as appropriate.

(c) <u>Quorum</u>. A majority of the Endowment Committee shall constitute a quorum at any meeting. Action at a meeting of the Endowment Committee shall be by a majority of the quorum.

(d) <u>Meetings</u>. Any meeting of the Endowment Committee where the members are not gathered at the same location may be held by teleconference or any other media through which the members participating in the meeting may hear and directly communicate with each other.

### Article 5.7 Development Committee.

(a) <u>Composition</u>. The Development Committee shall consist of a Chair appointed by the President-Elect, who shall serve a three (3) year term, and no less than two (2) other members appointed by the President-Elect to serve a one (1) year term.

(b) <u>Power and Duties</u>. The Development Committee shall have the responsibility to provide oversight of and to engage in the development efforts of the Foundation, and to make recommendations to the Board regarding development efforts and programs, as appropriate.

(c) <u>Quorum</u>. A majority of the Development Committee shall constitute a quorum at any meeting. Action at a meeting of the Development Committee shall be by a majority of the quorum.

(d) <u>Meetings</u>. Any meeting of the Development Committee where the members are not gathered at the same location may be held by teleconference or any other media through which the members participating in the meeting may hear and directly communicate with each other.

#### Article 5.8 Program Oversight Committee.

(a) <u>Composition</u>. The Program Oversight Committee shall consist of a Chair appointed by the President-Elect, who shall serve a three (3) year term, and no less than two (2) other members appointed by the President-Elect to serve a one (1) year term.

(b) <u>Power and Duties</u>. The Program Oversight Committee shall have the responsibility to provide oversight of the pro bono and public service programs of the Foundation, and to make recommendations to the Board regarding such programs, as appropriate.

(c) <u>Quorum</u>. A majority of the Program Oversight Committee shall constitute a quorum at any meeting. Action at a meeting of the Program Oversight Committee shall be by a majority of the quorum.

(d) <u>Meetings</u>. Any meeting of the Program Oversight Committee where the members are not gathered at the same location may be held by teleconference or any other

media through which the members participating in the meeting may hear and directly communicate with each other.

Article 5.9 <u>Action Without Meeting</u>. Action required or permitted to be taken by a standing committee at a meeting, including, but not limited to, action on the submission of a matter to any standing committee by the President, may be taken without a meeting if all available members of the respective committee are advised of the matter in writing or by electronic means and if one or more written consents describing the action taken is signed by all the respective committee members before or after the action so taken and filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the respective committee. Action so taken is effective when the last required member of the respective committee signs such consent, unless the consent specifies a different effective date. Such consent has the effect of a meeting vote and may be described as such in any document. The consent of a member of a standing committee may be in electronic form and delivered by electronic means. Signatures of the requisite members of a standing committee need not appear on one original written consent to action and may appear on duplicate originals.

Article 5.10 <u>Notice of Meetings</u>. Notice of each meeting of a standing committee shall be given at least (i) ten (10) days in advance of such meeting if by mail, (ii) three days in advance of such meeting if by electronic means, or (iii) upon actual delivery of the notice to the committee members.

Article 5.11 <u>Establishment of Committees by the Board</u>. Except for those standing committees set forth in these Bylaws, the Board may establish, divide, combine, or dissolve such other committees as it may deem advisable for the achievement of the purposes and the proper conduct of the affairs of the Foundation, such committees being subject to the power and authority established by the Board.

Article 5.12 <u>Establishment of Committees by the President</u>. The President shall be authorized to establish such other committees as he or she may deem advisable for the achievement of the purposes and the proper conduct of the affairs of the Foundation, or as may be directed by the Board or the Executive Committee, such committees being subject to the power and authority established by the Board. The members of such committees established by the President shall not, however, hold office beyond the adjournment of the Annual Meeting next succeeding the date of their appointment.

Article 5.13 <u>Appointment of Committees</u>. Except as otherwise provided by these Bylaws and consistent with policies established by the Board, the President-Elect shall appoint the Chair of each committee and shall fill by appointment all vacancies on any committee occurring at the beginning of the President-Elect's term of office as President. Members of the Association not over the age of thirty-six (36) are encouraged to apply for committee service, as it is a goal of the Foundation to have participation by younger members, and the President-Elect shall consider these applicants in filling any vacancies. Each appointment shall become effective upon the President-Elect taking office as President and shall continue until the appointee's successor takes office. The President shall fill by appointment any vacancies in the Chairs or membership of any committee occurring during the President's incumbency. All Chairs and committee members shall serve subject to the approval of the President.

Article 5.14 <u>Committee Membership and Scope of Authority</u>. All committee members must be members in good standing of the Association. Members of the Association not over the age of thirty-six (36) are encouraged to apply for committee service with the Foundation. All activities of committees shall be subject to the control of the Board and conducted in accordance with any policies, rules, or regulations which may be promulgated by the Board.

Article 5.15 <u>Ex-Officio Voting Members</u>. The President, President-Elect, and Executive Director shall be ex-officio members of all committees and shall be voting members thereof.

#### ARTICLE 6 CONTRACTS, CHECKS, DEPOSITS, AND FUNDS

Article 6.1 <u>Contracts</u>. The Board may authorize any officer or agent of the Foundation to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Foundation and such authority may be general or specific in nature.

Article 6.2 <u>Checks and Drafts</u>. All checks, drafts, or other orders for the payment of money, notes, or other evidence or indebtedness issued in the name of the Foundation shall be signed by such officer or agent of the Foundation and in such manner as shall be determined by resolution of the Board.

Article 6.3 <u>Deposits</u>. All funds of the Foundation shall be deposited to the credit of the Foundation in such banks, trust companies, or other depositories as the Board may select.

Article 6.4 <u>Gifts</u>. The Board may accept on behalf of the Foundation any contribution, gift, bequest, or devise for the general purposes or for any specific purpose of the Foundation.

### ARTICLE 7 GENERAL PROVISIONS

Article 7.1 <u>Amendments</u>. These Bylaws may be amended by an affirmative vote of at least three-fourths of the directors then holding office, the notice of which is in writing and sent to the full Board not less than ten (10) days before the meeting; provided that the text of the proposed amendment is submitted with that notice.

Article 7.2 <u>Publications, Reports, and Communications</u>. No Foundation report, communication, or publication shall be sent unless approved by the Board, the Executive Committee, the President, or the Executive Director.

Article 7.3 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Foundation shall be July 1 to June 30.

Article 7.4 <u>Offices</u>. The Foundation may maintain such offices in the State of North Carolina as the Board shall determine. The registered office of the Foundation required by law to be maintained in the State of North Carolina may, but need not, be identical to the Foundation's principal office.

Article 7.5 Indemnification. Any person who at any time serves or has served as a member of the Board, officer, employee, agent, or committee member of the Foundation, or in such capacity at the request of the Foundation for any other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, shall have a right to be indemnified by the Foundation to the fullest extent permitted by law against (1) reasonable expenses, including attorney fees, actually and necessarily incurred by that person in connection with any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit, or proceeding on behalf of, or at the request of, the Foundation, seeking to hold that person liable by reason of the fact that he or she was acting in such capacity; and (2) reasonable payments made by that person in satisfaction of any judgment, money decree, fine, penalty, or settlement for which he or she may have become liable in any such action, suit, or proceeding. In no event, however, shall there be any indemnification when the Foundation itself brings any of the above proceedings upon specific authorization of the Board, unless the Board specifically determines indemnification to be appropriate.

The Board shall take all such action as may be necessary and appropriate to authorize the Foundation to pay the indemnification required by this <u>Article 7</u>, including, without limitation, to the extent needed, making a good faith evaluation of the manner in which the claimant for indemnity acted and of the reasonable amount of indemnity due.

Any person who at any time after the adoption of this <u>Article 7</u> serves or who has served in any of the aforesaid capacities for or on behalf of the Foundation shall be deemed to be doing or to have done so in reliance upon, and as consideration for, the right of indemnification provided herein. Such rights shall inure to the benefit of the legal representative of any such person and shall not be exclusive of any other rights to which such person may be entitled apart from the provisions of this <u>Article 7</u>.

Article 7.6 <u>Bonding</u>. The Executive Director shall be bonded in such amount as may be determined by the Board; at the direction of the Board, any other officer or employee of the Foundation shall be bonded in such amount as may be determined by the Board.

Article 7.7 <u>Seal</u>. The seal of the Foundation as impressed on the margin hereof is hereby adopted as the seal of the Foundation.



Article 7.8 <u>Notices and Waivers of Notice</u>. Any notice required or permitted to be given in writing by the Foundation, Board, or Executive Committee, or by any committee, may be delivered by hand, United States Postal Service, nationally recognized overnight courier, or any other method authorized in these Bylaws. Unless expressly prohibited by law, the Foundation's Articles of Incorporation, or by another provision of these Bylaws, any notice addressed to the recipient and delivered by electronic mail, facsimile, or other electronic means in the Foundation's ordinary course of business shall satisfy any requirement for written notice. A waiver provided by the person or persons entitled to such notice through any of the foregoing means, whether before or after the time stated in the notice, shall be equivalent to the giving of such notice. Unless otherwise indicated in these Bylaws, any notice required to be given by, or provided to, the Foundation, Board, Executive Committee, or any other committee, shall be in writing.

Article 7.9 <u>Interpretation of Certain References</u>. All references in these Bylaws to the Foundation's Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws and any policies, rules, regulations, or guidelines of the Foundation shall be interpreted to mean such items as are adopted by the Board and are then in effect.

This the 19<sup>th</sup> day of May, 1960 Amended and restated on June 17, 2006 Amended and restated on October 23, 2010 As amended January 20, 2011 As amended June 24, 2017 Amended and restated on June 22, 2019